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Abstract
In his 1935 judgment in Woolmington v DPP, Viscount Sankey declared the prosecution’s burden of
proving the accused’s guilt was a ‘golden thread’, running ‘throughout the whole web of English criminal
law’. This paper explores whatWoolmington can tell us about the appeals process – and about the criminal
law itself – less than 30 years after the first automatic right to appeal was created in English criminal law. It
argues that the decision helps us understand the political pressures that could help to form – and make
possible – legal decisions during this period. And it finds that the Woolmington decision itself – both in
the text of the decision and in its immediate reception – was more universal than it was fundamental.
Woolmington, I argue, has always been more about the high-level principles of English criminal law
than about securing any kind of minimal procedural rights for a defendant.
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Introduction

In 1935, the 21-year-old agricultural labourer Reginald Woolmington was convicted of the murder of
his 17-year-old wife Violet. They had been married for a year when Violet had given birth to a son.
Approximately a month later the two had separated, after he had started to threaten her whenever she
left home without his permission. A month after that she had been shot dead by a gun he had been
holding. Reginald Woolmington had for roughly one year been a member first of the Royal Marines
and later of the Royal Field Artillery, but urinary incontinence had prevented him from serving on a
long-term basis.1 At his trial,2 Woolmington claimed he had simply wanted to scare his wife, and that
the gun had gone off by accident. Swift J directed the jury that in murder trials the defendant had the
burden of proving this defence. This had been an orthodox direction for almost two centuries. But
now the House of Lords held that a defendant should not normally be expected to prove their defence.

The decision in Woolmington has been widely regarded as being central to the idea that an accused
person is innocent until proven guilty, and that it is for the prosecution to prove their guilt. One
scholar writing on the case’s significance has put it in the following way:

†I need to thank my friend Pete Mills, for contacting me in October 2017 to explain he was ‘flabbergasted to discover that
the presumption of innocence was first articulated in the commonwealth in only 1935. Am I missing something? Presumably
it didn’t leap into existence with that judgment?’ If I hadn’t received that message, I would not have written this paper. I am
also, of course, very grateful to Legal Studies’ reviewers, for their very insightful comments on an earlier draft.

1Prisoner: Reginald Woolmington, 19 Dec 1934 (NA: DPP 2/245) Part One.
2This was in fact, as we shall see, his second trial, his first trial having ended with a hung jury a few weeks earlier.
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This decision is widely regarded as one which introduced a new fundamental principle into the law
of criminal evidence. According to that new principle, the accused should not carry the risk of non-
persuasion not only in regard to constituent elements of the crime, but, subject to a few exceptions,
also in connection with any defensive issue which he raises.3

In other words, the Woolmington decision is commonly understood to have established a funda-
mental principle that an accused does not have to prove their own innocence, and does not (in
most cases) have to prove their defence. The decision is occasionally referred to in judgments
of the Court of Appeal4 and the Supreme Court5 as establishing important principles around
the presumption of innocence, but I will argue among other things that it is better understood
as something symbolic than as a decision of great doctrinal significance. Lord Neuberger for
example, discussing the case in 2015, noted that the principles in Woolmington are now ‘taken
for granted’.6 In other words, they are simply part of the common law background. Another argu-
ment I will seek to make is that it is helpful in understanding this landmark case to seek to com-
prehend what these principles actually meant as they were being developed. For a start, were these
ideas in any way new?

The Lord Chancellor, Viscount Sankey, argued in his judgment in the House of Lords that he was
merely correcting an earlier error, and that the orthodox direction given to Woolmington’s jury at the
Bristol assizes had been a mistake.7 There was, in other words, nothing new in the Woolmington deci-
sion. The Chief Justice, Lord Hewart, did not offer a dissenting judgment in the Lords, but did write in
the Sunday Times three days later that the decision did in fact amount to a significant change in the
law.8 Homicide defences such as the one Woolmington had relied upon had previously carried what
we now call a ‘reverse burden’ – meaning it was for the defendant to prove their defence and not for
the prosecution to disprove it – and now they did not. Another possibility for understanding the case’s
significance can be found in scholarship which has argued that the Woolmington decision was not a
departure from the ideas that had come before, but simply represented a change in these ideas’ con-
tent. On this account, the main difference with what had come before rested on the specific distinction
that should be drawn between justifications, which the prosecution must prove, and excuses, which
must still be established by the defendant.9

In this paper, I do not seek to argue that any of these claims are wrong. There was indeed a doc-
trinal tension – which we shall explore below – that allowed Viscount Sankey to incrementally develop
his way to the Woolmington position, even though on the face of it doing so meant abandoning cen-
turies of homicide doctrine. Lord Hewart was also correct to note that the law of murder was now
different to the version that had appeared in legal textbooks and in the practice of the courts before
the Lords had ‘clarified’ the position. And more recent scholarship has tended to agree with the idea
that Woolmington is best understood as reflecting a shift in the meaning of the ideas underlying the
criminal trial, rather than a shift in any of the more fundamental structures. For Farmer, Woolmington
is important because of its status as a case which was ‘central to the establishment of a novel linkage
between responsibility and guilt’, which thereby created a firm link between proof of mens rea and a

3A Stein ‘From Blackstone to Woolmington: on the development of a legal doctrine’ (1993) 14(1) Journal of Legal History
14, at 16.

4Eg R v Charles [2010] EWCA Crim 1570, [2010] 1 WLR 644, [8]–[9] per Thomas LJ.
5Eg R (Adams) v Secretary of State for Justice (JUSTICE and another intervening) [2011] UKSC 18, [2012] 1 AC 48, [116]

per Baroness Hale.
6Lord Neuberger ‘Reflections on the ICLR top fifteen cases: a talk to commemorate the ICLR’s 150th anniversary’ (2015)

https://www.iclr.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/media//2020/09/Transcript_Lord_Neuberger-anniversary-ICLR.pdf (last accessed
27 June 2022).

7Woolmington v DPP [1935] AC 469, at 482.
8Lord Hewart ‘Innocent until proved guilty: one golden thread in the web of English criminal law’ Sunday Times (London

26 May 1935) p 18.
9Stein, above n 3.
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wider commitment to the presumption of innocence.10 For Loughnan, meanwhile, Woolmington
formed part of a general move towards ‘amplif[ying] the importance of voluntariness, will, or con-
sciousness for criminal responsibility’.11 Woolmington, then, is not simply about shifting doctrine.
It is also about more fundamental questions of what the criminal law is and what it is for.

The question I want to ask is how it was that this decision was made in this way, at this time, and
what those who read and reflected on the decision appear to have made of it. Without wishing to
suggest there is anything wrong with other approaches, my instinct is to read Woolmington less as
a doctrinal or a theoretical question, and more as a question of legal history. My hope is that shifting
the perspective a little in this way can help us to better understand what the case was about, and what
it was doing, in 1935. Perhaps doing so could even help us to understand its place for us today, almost
a century on.

Prior to the mid-nineteenth century, it was difficult to say very much about the details of criminal
doctrine, owing to the absence of any permanent appellate courts.12 Handler has found that even after
the Court of Crown Cases Reserved was established in 1848, little was done in the appellate courts to
develop fundamental or universal principles, with much of the reality of criminal law still being left to
trial judges to sort out.13 By the 1930s it was still very unusual for the House of Lords to hear a crim-
inal appeal, and before Woolmington it had never overturned a murder conviction. Engaging in a ser-
ious discussion of how the decision in Woolmington came about therefore adds to our understanding
of the development of criminal law in England as an area of law with a properly developed doctrinal
basis.

This leads on to a further element of what I am seeking to do here in understanding the
Woolmington decision historically. Once the Court of Criminal Appeal had rejected Reginald
Woolmington’s appeal, the only hope he had was for the Attorney General to send his case up to
the Lords. This was something that very rarely happened, and indeed this particular Attorney
General had recently made clear he was at best ambivalent about what would soon become the
Woolmington position. So there was no reason to expect that the Lords would ever even hear the
appeal. And yet, of course, they did. In order to understand how the decision came about, we are
therefore going to need to reckon with this serious improbability. We cannot do this without exploring
Woolmington’s growing celebrity, first locally in and around the Attorney General’s home town of
Bristol, and eventually nationally. In an article which considers Woolmington simply as a question
of doctrine or of theory, the reporting of provincial newspapers and so on would be obviously irrele-
vant. But if we approach the case from this angle, it becomes essential.

I will suggest that situating this case historically means understanding three central issues. First, the
significance of Reginald Woolmington’s celebrity. Secondly, of the property offences doctrine that was
central (without being expressly named) to Viscount Sankey’s arguments in the House of Lords. And
thirdly, of legal attitudes to judicial innovation in the decades after the first creation of a permanent
Court of Criminal Appeal in 1907. By drawing through these questions, we can begin to see what the
Woolmington decision meant at the time it was decided. I do not, of course, seek to suggest that
straightforwardly doctrinal or theoretical approaches are unhelpful. But I do hope that some space
can be made for understanding what the Woolmington decision meant, and was about, in 1935;
and that this can inform our understanding of what the case might still be about today.

10L Farmer ‘Innocence, the burden of proof, and fairness in the criminal trial: revisiting Woolmington v DPP (1935)’ in JD
Jackson and SJ Summers (eds) Obstacles to Fairness in Criminal Proceedings: Individual Rights and Institutional Forms
(Oxford: Hart Publishing, 2018) p 63.

11A Loughnan Manifest Madness: Mental Incapacity in the Criminal Law (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012) p 123.
12R Pattenden English Criminal Appeals 1844–1994: Appeals against Conviction and Sentence in England and Wales

(Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1996) 5-33.
13P Handler ‘Legal development in Victorian criminal trials’ in M Dyson and D Ibbetson (eds) Law and Legal History:

Substantive Law and Procedure in English Legal History (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2013) p 264.
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1. Woolmington’s trials
In this first substantive section, we will explore Woolmington’s trial and retrial. This will be necessary
for two reasons. First, it will allow us to see how the law of reverse burdens was understood and
applied before Viscount Sankey’s judgment was handed down in the House of Lords. Secondly, it
will allow us to see how, from the very start, Reginald Woolmington became a celebrity figure during
his trial for murdering his wife. This cultural and increasingly political context is essential for under-
standing how the case ever even ended up at the House of Lords. It is an important part of the history,
which is necessarily overlooked by an exclusively doctrinal or principled exploration of the case.

Woolmington was immediately treated with great interest by the local press, and his two trials were
widely reported on even before they gained significance as the backdrop to a famous appellate case.
Very little of this coverage focused on the nature of the gendered violence the defendant stood accused
of.14 And as we shall see, the press’s treatment of Woolmington may have ultimately saved him his life.
Already at his first magistrates’ court hearing, there were hints of the local prominence the case would
soon acquire. According to one report, ‘Pouring rain kept all but a few idle spectators from the pre-
cincts of the court, and inside not more than a dozen spectators listened to the brief proceedings’.15 At
Woolmington’s second appearance before the magistrates, where there is no mention of rain, the court
was full:

Long before the court sat crowds of people lined the streets of Wincanton, trying to catch a
glimpse of Reginald Woolmington…
A hush fell over the tiny court room when Woolmington entered in company with a police
sergeant.16

Woolmington was repeatedly presented as a charismatic figure. Unlike in the national papers, which
initially reported the case in a straightforward manner,17 various local newspapers immediately
focused on his brown suit, athletic build, and calm demeanour.18

During his first trial at the assizes, held at Taunton, Woolmington claimed for the first time that the
gun that had killed his wife had gone off by accident. On this account, ‘the gun was accidentally dis-
charged when he took it from underneath his overcoat where he had it concealed. As far as he was
aware, he did not touch the trigger’.19 This claim was apparently not directly challenged. In subsequent
correspondence with the Home Office, the Director of Public Prosecutions explained that this defence
had come as a surprise, and expert evidence had had to be commissioned between this trial and the
subsequent retrial at the Bristol assizes which would form the basis of the Lords’ famous appellate
decision.20 By the time this second trial was heard, expert evidence was able to be adduced by the

14This is striking given the prevalence at this time of common narratives seeking to explain intimate violence by men
against women: R Crites Husbands’ Violence against Wives in England and Wales, 1914–1939: A Review of Contemporary
Understandings and Responses to Men’s Marital Violence (PhD thesis, University of Warwick, 2016) pp 47–48.

15‘Murder charge in Somerset: pigeon takes tragic news to Paulton: young husband alleged to have killed wife: boxer
refuses legal aid’ Western Daily Press and Bristol Mirror (Bristol 12 December 1934) p 8.

16‘Dramatic allegations in West Country: young husband for trial on murder charge: pathetic story of Somerset girl wife’s
death: story of quarrels’ Western Daily Press and Bristol Mirror (Bristol 20 December 1934) p 7.

17Eg ‘Jury disagree in murder trial: young wife’s death’ Manchester Guardian (Manchester 24 January 1935) p 12; Untitled
The Times (London 25 January 1935) p 4.

18See above n 15; ‘Wife murder charge: Milborne Port man committed: short, unhappy married life: prisoner’s pathetic
message’ Western Morning News and Daily Gazette (Plymouth 20 December 1934) p 8; see above n 16; ‘Tragedy of a border
town: young Somerset wife shot dead: husband charged with murder: assize jury disagree at Taunton’Western Morning News
and Daily Gazette (Plymouth 24 January 1935) p 4; ‘Somerset shooting tragedy: young husband on murder charge: plea that
shot was accidental: assize jury fails to agree on verdict’ Taunton Courier and Western Advertiser (Taunton 30 January 1935)
p 10.

19‘Somerset murder trial only an accident?’ Western Daily Press and Bristol Mirror (Bristol 24 January 1935) p 8.
20Letter from Edward Tindal Atkinson (Director of Public Prosecutions) to Home Office, 20 March 1935 (NA: HO 144/

19946/21).
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prosecution – and it was not seriously contradicted by the defence – to the effect that the gun was not
in perfect condition, but was unlikely to have gone off by accident.

Returning to the initial trial at Taunton, once Woolmington had offered his unexpected defence,
Finlay J had to direct the jury of men21 on its significance. Specifically, was it for Woolmington to
prove the accident, or was it for the prosecution to rebut his claim? Who had the burden of proving
this aspect of Woolmington’s guilt? As we shall see, Finlay’s direction here was quite different to the
one subsequently given by Swift J at Bristol. Whether this was because of different judicial tempera-
ments or philosophies, or simply because Woolmington’s defence was not one the judge had had time
to prepare for, is difficult to tell. Nonetheless, this first judge explained:

The case for the prosecution is deliberate shooting. The Defence is: Not guilty of murder. They
prove the killing, and in the absence of explanation that is murder. The Defence say: Excusable
because accidental. Consider whether you entertain the slightest doubt that this was a deliberate
killing… If you have no doubt, it is your duty to convict… If the result of a dispassionate survey
is to leave a reasonable doubt in your minds, then your duty as well as your pleasure is to acquit.22

Woolmington’s counsel would later argue that this was the correct formulation. Once the defendant
had raised a doubt, it was for the prosecution to dispel that doubt, and it was not for the defendant to
fully prove the defence.

When the jury were unable to agree after 65 minutes, Finlay J took them at their word that further
deliberation would be meaningless. It was not unheard of for an assize judge to seek an immediate
retrial at the same place, in the same session;23 but this did not seem right to this judge, in this context.
The following day, Finlay J was able to confirm the retrial would be heard at Bristol, and that he would
not be involved: ‘for obvious reasons it is better that the same judge should not undertake the same
trial, and I will ask Mr Justice Swift to take the case at Bristol’.24

Swift had, as an advocate, developed a reputation for presenting simple and persuasive arguments
to his juries. As a judge, he had also gained a reputation for giving his juries a clear steer. As his biog-
rapher put it in 1939: ‘he always made up his mind about a case, and was never satisfied to leave it to
the twelve jurors, indifferent which way they found’.25 In this particular trial, Swift’s directive approach
led him to advise his jury (again, of men only)26 that they should convict Woolmington unless he had
proved that the gun had discharged by accident. The relevant passage was as follows:

Once it is shown to the jury that somebody has died through the act of another, that is presumed
to be murder, unless the person who has been guilty of the act which causes the death can satisfy
a jury that what happened was something less, something which might be alleviated, something
which might be reduced to a charge of manslaughter, or was something which was accidental, or
was something which could be justified.27

21‘Somerset jury disagree: killing of girl wife was an accident?’ Western Daily Press and Bristol Mirror (Bristol 24 January
1935) p 7. We know that many women were present in court – ‘Tragedy of a border town: young Somerset wife shot dead:
husband charged with murder: assize jury disagree at Taunton’ Western Morning News and Daily Gazette (Plymouth 24
January 1935) p 4 – but it was common in the southwest of England for women to be excluded from the jury: K Crosby
‘Keeping women off the jury in 1920s England and Wales’ (2017) 37 Legal Studies 695, at 704–707; K Crosby ‘Restricting
the juror franchise in 1920s England and Wales’ (2019) 37 Law and History Review 163, at 190–198.

22WJG Trapnell’s annotated copy of ‘In the House of Lords, on appeal from the Court of Criminal Appeal (England),
Reginald Woolmington against the Director of Public Prosecutions (on behalf of his Majesty the King): appendix (NA:
DPP 2/245, Part Two) p 222.

23Letter from Montague Lush to Archibald Bodkin (Director of Public Prosecutions), 26 Jun 1923 (NA: DPP 1/75).
24‘Somerset shooting tragedy: young husband on murder charge: plea that shot was accidental: assize jury fails to agree on

verdict’ Taunton Courier and Western Advertiser (Taunton 30 January 1935) p 10.
25ES Fay The Life of Mr Justice Swift (Methuen, 1939) p 88.
26‘Sentenced to death: Somerset youth who shot his girl-wife’ BathWeekly Chronicle and Herald (Bath 16 February 1935) p 10.
27Woolmington v DPP [1935] AC 462, at 465.
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Once the prosecution had proved that Woolmington had caused his wife’s death, he must be found
guilty of murder unless he could prove his defence. This was a clearly very different direction to
the one that had been given by Finlay J at Taunton a few weeks earlier.28

This second jury convicted Woolmington of murder. He appealed, and was eventually released on
the basis that Swift J had misdirected the jury. A large part of the remainder of this paper is about
situating the events leading up to the famous decision of the House of Lords within a context that
helps us to better understand this decision and the things that made it possible. There are few such
contexts more obviously important than the pre-existing doctrine; and it is to this doctrine that we
shall turn next, before we eventually start looking at the appeals themselves.

2. The law before Woolmington

Woolmington raised both doctrinal and principled questions. In addressing these questions, I will start
to make out my wider argument that the decision in Woolmington is better understood as an attempt
to universalise an existing principle that already existed in another part of the criminal law, rather than
as an attempt to set out a fundamental procedural protection for defendants. There are two concurrent
areas of the criminal law which need to be explored in order to make out the claim that the
Woolmington decision simply extended a pre-existing principle. The first is a shifting attitude towards
‘malice’ in the law of homicide, and the aspects of a murder charge that were understood to require
proof.29 Second, and perhaps more surprising, is the law relating to the receipt of stolen goods. This
second area of doctrine, I argue, made the decisive shift towards a presumption of innocence decades
before the law of murder, and ultimately before the criminal law more generally. We shall see that this
earlier use of the rule against reverse burdens was more likely to offer a fundamental procedural pro-
tection – a rule that if broken was likely to produce an unsafe trial – than we can see in later cases
applying the more universal Woolmington principle.

The significance that the law of receiving had in laying the groundwork for the more famous prin-
ciple in Woolmington was well understood by the lawyers in the case. While Viscount Sankey did not
expressly state that he was being informed by these developments, only naming the receiving cases
rather than mentioning that they all came from this other area of criminal law, three of the twelve
cases cited in his judgment concerned receiving. Counsel for Woolmington also relied in their success-
ful argument at the Lords on another five receiving cases. And in their argument at the Court of
Criminal Appeal, they underlined the possibility that the law on burdens in receiving trials ought
to be applied to the law of homicide. This pre-history of property offences is not something which
is, to my knowledge, explored in any detail in the literature on Woolmington.30 But its significance
as part of the doctrinal backdrop to the decision underlines that an important part of what was
going on this case was the universalising of a series of ideas that could already be found elsewhere.

But before we turn to property offences, what was the state of the law regarding reverse burdens in
trials for murder? The classic statement here came from the high court judge Sir Michael Foster’s 1762
treatise on criminal law. Foster had provided that:

In every Charge of Murder, the Fact of Killing being first proved, all the Circumstances of
Accident, Necessity, or Infirmity are to be satisfactorily proved by the Prisoner, unless they

28On judges’ and jurors’ attitudes to men killing their female partners, especially in circumstances where the men may have
felt their honour had been under threat, see G Frost ‘He could not hold his passions: domestic violence and cohabitation in
England (1850–1905)’ (2008) 12 Crime, History & Societies. See also L Seal and A Neale ‘“In his passionate way”: emotion,
race and gender in cases of partner murder in England and Wales, 1900–39’ (2020) 60 British Journal of Criminology 811, at
811–813.

29Farmer, above n 10, pp 61–64.
30It is very briefly referenced in W Cornish et al Law and Society in England 1750–1950 (Oxford: Hart Publishing, 2nd edn,

2019) p 605. On the earlier backdrop against which this later law of theft etc developed, see BP Smith ‘The presumption of
guilt and the English law of theft, 1750–1850’ (2005) 23 Law and History Review 133.
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arise out of the Evidence produced against Him… The Defendant in this Instance standeth upon
just the same foot that every other Defendant doth: the Matters tending to Justify, Excuse, or
Alleviate, must appear in Evidence before he can avail himself of them.31

This was subsequently confirmed in the 1837 case of Greenacre.32 As Viscount Sankey would go on to
explain in his decision in Woolmington, Foster and Greenacre were together the standard authorities
on reverse burdens regarding defences to murder.33

Farmer suggests that these homicide authorities should be understood as part of an earlier
altercation-based model of criminal trials,34 which preceded our notions of adversarialism. Even
though the rule set out by Foster may have developed out of an older model of justice, which
expected defendants to actively (and personally) fight back,35 it survived well into the newer
model in which everyone except the lawyers and the witnesses were effectively rendered silent.36

As late as 1922, Russell on Crime provided that ‘[a]s a general rule, all homicide is presumed to
be malicious, and murder, until the contrary appears, from circumstances of alleviation, excuse,
or justification; and it is incumbent upon the prisoner to make out such circumstances to the
satisfaction of the Court and jury’.37 By the 1920s, as we shall see below, it is in truth possible
to discern some judicial retreat even in homicide trials from the principle Foster had set out in
1762. But the turn against reverse burdens had developed earlier, and more decisively, in cases
involving receiving stolen goods.

Wigmore, writing from an American perspective in 1905, had complained of the ‘troublesome and
fruitless’38 debate caused by the longstanding principle, derived from English law, that a person
charged with receiving stolen goods only had to have possession proved against her. The defendant
would then be found guilty unless she could show she did not know the goods were stolen.
Wigmore cited with approval the 1902 decision in State v Brady, which had held that while a defend-
ant in such circumstances does have to offer some evidence, it is not right to describe her as having the
burden of proving her own innocence.39 This decision was expressly drawn on by the English Court of
Criminal Appeal in its 1909 decision in Stoddart, establishing that in a case involving an allegedly
fraudulent football lottery ‘the jury should have been told that if they accepted the explanation
given by and on behalf of Stoddart, or if that explanation raised in their minds a reasonable doubt
as to his guilt, they should acquit him, as the onus of proof still lay upon the prosecution’.40

This principle, not yet set out in anything like the poetic terms of theWoolmington decision, and as
yet leaving homicide laws untouched, was next adopted in the law of receiving, with the 1914 decision
in Schama and Abramovitch taking its lead from the earlier American jurisprudence.41 Here, the Old
Bailey Commissioner had directed his jury that the defendants were required to ‘explain how it came
that they were dealing with these stolen goods, and to give an explanation that will satisfy twelve
reasonable men’.42 But the Court of Criminal Appeal countered that

31M Foster A Report of Some Proceedings … to which are added discourses upon a few branches of the Crown law
(Clarendon, 1762) p 255.

32R v Greenacre (1837) 8 C & P 35, 173 ER 388, 391.
33All this was doubtless a reflection of the earlier commitment within the criminal law to an idea that intention could be

inferred from conduct, and did not require our modern idea of a largely subjective mens rea requirement: Handler, above n
13, p 268.

34Farmer, above n 10, p 62.
35JH Langbein The Origins of Adversary Criminal Trial (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003) pp 13–16.
36Ibid, pp 253, 311–314, 318–321.
37RE Ross and GB McClure Russell on Crimes and Misdemeanors, vol 1 (Stevens, 8th edn, 1923) p 615.
38JH Wigmore A Treatise on the System of Evidence in Trials at Common Law, vol IV (Boston, 1905) p 3562.
39State v Brady (1902) 91 NW 801, as per Wigmore, ibid, p 3562 fn 2.
40R v Stoddart (1909) 2 Cr App R 217, at 222.
41Two judgments were actually given to a similar effect the previous year, although Schama and Abramovitch became the

standard case: R v Hagan (1914) 9 Cr App R 25; R v Sturgess (1914) 9 Cr App R 120.
42R v Schama and Abramovitch (1916) 11 Cr App R 45, at 46 (emphasis added).

110 K Crosby

https://doi.org/10.1017/lst.2022.25 Published online by Cambridge University Press

https://doi.org/10.1017/lst.2022.25


if the jury think that the [defendant’s] explanation may reasonably be true, the prisoner is
entitled to an acquittal, because the Crown has not discharged the onus of proof imposed
upon it of satisfying the jury beyond reasonable doubt of the prisoner’s guilt. That onus never
changes, it always rests on the prosecution. That is the law; the Court is not pronouncing new
law, but is merely restating it.43

This decision was made by a panel involving Avory and Atkin JJ, who in the Woolmington appeals
would find themselves on different sides. This was not yet a principle which could be confidently
applied throughout the criminal law.

It was also not a principle that was consistently applied at first instance, even in trials for receiving.
The habit of reversing the burden was a difficult one to shake, with the Court of Criminal Appeal hav-
ing to reaffirm the principle at least four times over the next half decade.44 In one such case, even
Crown counsel on appeal conceded that the Recorder had ‘clearly’ failed to engage with Schama
and Abramovitch.45 In another, the Old Bailey Commissioner had attempted to resolve his confusion
between what we would regard as evidentiary and legal burdens by stating in court that ‘I suppose the
phrase “the burden shifts” is too strong, but it is a nice distinction which I do not understand. Well,
the burden never shifts, but it does’.46 By the end of the decade, the Court was regularly finding receiv-
ing convictions reached in the absence of a Schama and Abramovitch direction to be unsafe. In this
sense, the rule could be regarded as something fundamental: a minimum procedural protection for a
defendant seeking to make use of this particular defence. But while the idea was settling into a fun-
damental principle in the Court of Criminal Appeal, it was at the same time struggling to take hold in
the practice of the lower courts. Textbooks, too, did not always grasp the significance of these doctrinal
developments. As late as 1922, one textbook still ignored Schama altogether, giving the old principle as
good law and simply citing a case from 1803 as authority.47

How, if at all, did these developments inform the Law Lords’ work before 1935? Two years before
Woolmington was decided, the judges of the House of Lords – sitting in their imperial capacity as the
Judicial Committee of the Privy Council – had made it clear that they were content with these general
developments in the Court of Criminal Appeal regarding the burden of proof. In Lawrence v The King,
the Attorney General Sir Thomas Inskip (whose views on these matters will be important for us later on)
had argued that an improper reverse burden direction was fixed by Crown and defence counsel advising
the jury that the prosecution had the burden of proof. There was nothing fundamental about this particular
procedural protection, andanybreachof theprinciple could simplybeworkedaround. LordAtkindisagreed,
holdingnotonly that a jurymust be adequately directed that theprosecutionhas theburdenofproof, but also
that a judge failing to do sowill inevitablyproduce ‘a substantialmiscarriage of justice… unless it can bepre-
dicated that properly directed the jury must have returned the same verdict’.48 In the context of property
offences at least, a judicially imposed reverse burden would virtually automatically create an unfair trial.
Again, there was an argument to be had here that what was developing was a fundamental principle, in
the sense of a minimum procedural protection for a defendant seeking to rely on one of these defences.

The law of homicide was much slower to incorporate this principle. In his 1913 decision in Davies,
for example, Lawrence J held that the defendant did not have to prove his defence in a trial for a gun-
shot wound to a gamekeeper’s shoulder. Slightly frustratingly for our purposes, Lawrence ignored
Crown counsel’s argument that this would create an illogical tension with the law of murder,
where the defendant would be expected to prove his defence.49 The possibility of a reverse burden

43Ibid, at 49.
44R v Aubrey (1916) 11 Cr App R 182; R v Grinberg (1917) 12 Cr App R 259; R v Brain (1919) 13 Cr App R 197; R v

Sanders (1920) 14 Cr App R 1.
45R v Aubrey (1916) 11 Cr App R 182, at 183.
46R v Grinberg (1917) 12 Cr App R 259, at 260.
47JF Stephen and HL Stephen A Digest of the Law of Evidence (Macmillan, 10th edn, 1922) p 110.
48Lawrence v The King [1933] AC 699, at 707.
49R v Davies (1913) 8 Cr App R 211.
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would therefore depend on whether the gamekeeper survived, rather than any difference in the
defendant’s conduct. Two years later, in Hopper, it was held that the jury in a murder trial should
have also been directed on manslaughter in circumstances where ‘there was some evidence [for the
defence] – we say no more than that’.50 This suggests the defendant need not prove her defence,
but only had to offer some evidence. In our legal language, this is an evidential, and not a full legal
burden. By 1915, the Court of Criminal Appeal had started to hint that the eighteenth century rule
in Foster may need to give way. But compared to its judgments elsewhere, its rulings on reverse bur-
dens in homicide trials were noticeably more tentative.

By the timeWoolmington was decided, then, the appellate courts had made clear their commitment
to a general idea that the prosecution had the burden of proof. But it was well established, and con-
firmed as late as 1910, that this would not apply to insanity defences for example;51 and there was little
indication beyond a hint in Hopper that any of this might be used to undermine the centuries-old rule
set out by Foster. The underlying concepts were there for the Woolmington decision, but it was still far
from clear that we were about to be given a universalising principle like Viscount Sankey’s ‘golden
thread’. So how exactly did we get there?

3. The Court of Criminal Appeal

The early stages of the Woolmington appeal, as opposed to the judgment of the House of Lords, have
not previously been discussed in the literature. But it is my contention that they are vital for helping us
to understand how exactly it was that Viscount Sankey’s landmark judgment came about, and how it
was that it took the form it did.

The Woolmington trial and appeal existed in two parallel settings, both as a series of legal decisions
and as a moment in popular culture. Woolmington was convicted at Bristol on 14 February, and by 20
February his mother, Maria, had sent the Home Office a petition, signed by over 7,000 people, asking
for mercy for her son.52 At this stage the campaign appears to have been limited to the area in which
the Woolmingtons had lived, with a preliminary letter sent on 19 February describing the petition as
coming ‘from the countryside where my boy lived’.53 Two days later, the magistrate that Woolmington
had initially appeared before also wrote to the Home Office requesting leniency, and referring both to
the Taunton jury’s disagreement, and to his sense of the general feeling within the local community.54

By 2 March, an article on Woolmington’s case had appeared in the populist John Bull magazine, argu-
ing that retrials must never take place in murder trials unless the prosecution had substantial new evi-
dence: in the absence of such new evidence, any retrial necessarily undermined the idea that a
prisoner’s guilt must be proved beyond reasonable doubt.55 In a little over two weeks,
Woolmington’s celebrity, and the popularity of his cause, had started to shift from the local to the
national.

When Woolmington’s lawyer, JD Casswell, put in his notice of appeal, he was quickly called in for a
lunch with Swift J. Recalling the events a quarter of a century later, Casswell remembered feeling ‘a
little apprehensive’,56 but Swift’s biographer insists that the judge was fairly good-natured about the
situation.57 Casswell, for his part, appears to have approached the series of appeals motivated by a
sense of principle. Fay’s 1939 account and Casswell’s 1961 recollections both claim the barrister
had long had his doubts about the settled law.58 This doubt was enough for him to pursue the case

50R v Hopper (1915) 2 KB 431, at 435 (emphasis added).
51R v Smith (1911) 6 Cr App R 19.
52Petition for reprieve of Reginald Woolmington, 20 February 1935 (NA: HO 144/19946/25).
53Letter from Maria Woolmington, 19 February 1935 (NA: HO 144/19946/11).
54Letter fromHarry W Brown (Somerset JP) to John Gilmour (Home Secretary) 22 February 1935 (NA: HO 144/19946/15).
55‘Murderer – PERHAPS!’ John Bull (London 2 March 1935) p 30.
56JD Casswell A Lance for Liberty (George G Harrap & Co, 1961) p 94.
57Fay, above n 25, p 234.
58Ibid, p 234; Casswell, above n 56, pp 93–94.
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at one point even independently of any solicitors’ instructions. And as we have already seen, there was
by this stage a clear shift on the level of principle regarding the legitimacy of reverse burdens. But this
shift had never before been definitively represented in the law of murder.

Avory J, who gave the judgment of the Court of Criminal Appeal, was widely regarded as the judge
with the greatest expertise in criminal law.59 He was described in Swift’s biography as ‘that doyen of
criminal judges’;60 and one of Avory’s biographers stated ‘Horace Avory, perhaps more than any other
figure in English legal history, represented the lay conception of the perfect legal machine, just, impar-
tial and a little inhuman’.61 According to the same author, the Chief Justice Lord Hewart had once
described him as ‘a legal encyclopædia’.62 Casswell was less impressed by the judge, recalling 25
years later that Avory

had never been a judge favourably disposed towards defendants. Now in his eighty-fourth year and,
as it transpired, within months of his death, he was implacably pro-prosecution. He would never
admit that Archbold, commonly called ‘the prosecutor’s bible,’ could possibly be wrong.63

And in fact Avory had himself authored the section in Halsbury’s Laws of England which gave sub-
stantially the same account of the law as that which was provided in Archbold.64 Avory’s temperament,
and settled view, were both against extending the law on reverse burdens from property offences to
murder.

But whatever their principled views, the doctrine posed clear problems both for Casswell and for
Avory. For Casswell, it was clear that the rule stated in Foster was the law, in the sense of being the rule
consistently applied by the courts. Swift himself had previously had directions along the lines he had
given in Woolmington upheld by the Court of Criminal Appeal (in fact, as recently as 1927, nobody in
one such appeal had even thought it worthwhile to pause on the legitimacy of this part of his direc-
tion).65 Nonetheless, Avory must have been aware that the decisions of the courts were increasingly
hostile to reverse burdens. Indeed, he had been one of the judges in Schama and Abramovitch.
Frankly, a judgment either for or against Swift’s direction at Bristol was possible at this stage, given
the principles and rules then available.

How, then, did Caswell seek to persuade this pro-prosecution encyclopedia? His first argument was
that the Court should hear additional evidence regarding the gun. No evidence had been offered on
this point at Taunton, and at Bristol the defence had not seriously objected to the prosecution evi-
dence. This evidence had provided that the gun was not in excellent condition, and was perhaps a little
sensitive, but was essentially safe. The prosecution had only advised Casswell they would be calling this
evidence two days before the trial, and so, he now argued, he had not had adequate time to prepare a
response.66 Now he sought to adduce new expert evidence suggesting that the gun was completely
unsafe. This expert, an international shooting champion, had contacted Casswell immediately after
the trial, on seeing reports of the other expert’s evidence. The new expert was present in the vicinity
of the court, but having briefly conferred the three judges concluded it would not be appropriate for
them to hear from him.67 The Court of Criminal Appeal was not an appropriate venue for reopening

59On procedures in the Court of Criminal Appeal more generally, see P Polden ‘The Courts of Appeal’ in W Cornish et al
(eds) The Oxford History of the Laws of England, vol XI: 1820–1914 English Legal System (Oxford: Oxford University Press,
2010) pp 805–808.

60Fay, above n 25, p 234.
61S Jackson Mr Justice Avory (Victor Gollancz, 1935) p 16.
62Ibid, p 15.
63Casswell, above n 56, pp 94–95.
64Fay, above n 25, p 238.
65Ibid, p 169; ‘Court of Criminal Appeal: “trunk murder”: Robinson’s appeal dismissed’ The Times (London, 29 July 1927)

p 4.
66R v Reginald Woolmington, in the Court of Criminal Appeal, Monday 18thMarch 1935 (NA: DPP 2/245 Part Two) p 211.
67Ibid, p 215.
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questions of fact; although the Lords would subsequently have a look at the gun (in the absence of any
expert guidance) before reaching their decision.

Casswell’s main doctrinal argument was that Swift had misdirected his jury. Rather than directing
that Woolmington had to prove his defence, he should instead have directed that there was a rebuttable
presumption of malice. Once Woolmington had adequately raised his defence, the burden should have
reverted to the prosecuton to prove his guilt beyond reasonable doubt. Casswell drew in his argument
on Stoddart, Schama and Abramovitch, Aubrey, Grinberg, and Hagan.68 These cases, as we have
already seen, are suggestive of a growing judicial unease regarding reverse burdens, but were restricted
at this stage to property offences. Casswell sought to justify the leap to murder by pointing to the rela-
tive stakes: ‘If that is the law, where the liberty of the subject only is involved, it cannot be otherwise
where the life of the subject is involved’.69 He also argued that the question of what a properly directed
jury would have done was not a hypothetical one: that the correctly directed jury at Taunton had been
unable to conclude that Woolmington was guilty.70 Of course this jury had not had the benefit of the
expert testimony regarding the gun. In truth, it seems that failures of disclosure on both sides had
made the facts about the gun difficult to ascertain, with neither side ever really having had an
opportunity to mount a satisfying courtroom response to the other side’s claims.

JG Trapnell KC, responding for the Crown, sought first to argue that Swift’s direction had not truly
imposed a reverse burden. The judges understandably met this point with some scepticism.71 Trapnell
next developed an intricate argument for conceptual differences between property offences and trials
for murder. He argued that intent required positive proof in trials for receiving, and it therefore made
sense to require the prosecution to prove it; but in trials for murder intent would be presumed, and
therefore it made sense to require a defendant to disprove that presumption.72 Finally, Trapnell
pointed to the fact there were significant differences between the two trials, notably the absence of
the expert evidence at Taunton, meaning the Court could not rely on the first jury’s verdict when con-
sidering the consequences of a differently worded direction.73

Giving the judgment of the Court, Avory J started by explaining (‘in his dry, crackling voice’)74 that
the first verdict must be disregarded, as it was impossible to know why the jurors had been unable to
agree.75 He next suggested ‘[i]t may have been better’ if Swift J had directed the jury in the way
Casswell had wanted.76 At the same time, Swift’s direction had been in accordance with the settled
doctrine, supported by ‘ample authority’.77 This represented a clear tension. But this tension was side-
stepped by the judge, who noted that the Criminal Appeal Act required the Court to only uphold an
appeal if they believed a ‘substantial miscarriage of justice has actually occurred’.78 Having surveyed
the evidence, Avory concluded that ‘even if any such warning had been given to the Jury about a rea-
sonable doubt which is said to have been omitted, they must in the circumstances of this case have
inevitably come to the conclusion that the Prisoner was guilty of the crime of murder’.79

In other words, even if there was a rule against reverse burdens in the context of a murder trial, it
was not a fundamental principle: whether a conviction was actually unsafe would depend on the wider
circumstances of the trial. This, of course, was the argument that the Attorney General had made, and
the Privy Council had rejected, two years earlier in the context of a property offence. Avory concluded

68Ibid, pp 223–228 (Stoddart), 229 (Schama and Abramovitch), 229–230 (Aubrey), 230–231 (Grinberg), 231–232 (Hagan).
69Ibid, p 229.
70Ibid, p 222.
71Ibid, pp 233–234.
72Ibid, pp 237–243.
73Ibid, p 244.
74Fay, above n 25, p 235.
75Above n 66, p 250.
76Ibid, p 250.
77Ibid, p 251.
78Criminal Appeal Act 1907, s 4.
79Above n 66, p 254.
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that the Court did not have to decide whether the reverse burdens principle that had been developing
for decades in the context of property offences also applied in trials for murder, as the result for this
defendant would have been the same either way. This conclusion echoed the preference for the
certainty of a jury’s verdict over the precision of well worked doctrine that had long been a feature
of appellate decisions in English criminal law.80

4. The House of Lords

Woolmington’s trials were from the outset the subject of great local interest. Five days after the Bristol
trial, Maria Woolmington had sent the Home Office a seven-thousand strong petition for mercy from
the countryside near Milborne Port.81 Six weeks later, as the Lords heard the case, she presented a
petition signed by another seven thousand people, this time from Bristol.82 Meanwhile, ER Pursey,
an international clay pigeon shooter who the Court of Criminal Appeal had refused to hear from,
had written to the Home Office, setting out his view that the gun was ‘most definitely unsafe, and
it would be very inaccurate to describe it as reasonably safe. It is in fact a gun in such condition
that if it got into the hands of a gunsmith he would never let it leave his premises again’.83 The
DPP privately conceded the strength of this evidence.84 The Illustrated Police News reported that,
on realising his evidence would never be heard in court, Pursey set off to collect signatures in his
home town of Bristol.85 By this time members of the public from further afield had also started to
lobby the Home Office for mercy for Woolmington.86

In order for a case to proceed from the Court of Criminal Appeal to the House of Lords, the
Attorney General’s authorisation was required. We have met the Attorney General, Sir Thomas
Inskip, once before in this paper. In Lawrence, decided two years beforeWoolmington, Inskip had con-
ceded that the prosecution had the burden of proof, but argued that directions failing to advise the jury
of this jurisprudential principle would not necessarily be appealable. Inskip was not on the face of it a
committed proponent of reverse burdens. It was also unusual for the Lords to hear murder appeals,
and The Times observed they had never previously upheld an appeal against a murder conviction.87

Finally, Inskip’s own advisers were clear that Woolmington’s case was hopeless:

There can be no doubt that the learned Judge set out to the jury the present state of the law, and
in order therefore to justify you in issuing your certificate that an Appeal should be taken to the
House of Lords you will no doubt require some authority that the textbooks, and the cases cited
in support thereof, are wrong.88

The best Inskip’s adviser could offer was that there was a vague principle against reverse burdens; and
that in 1910 the Court of Criminal Appeal had had regard to an earlier jury’s disagreement in an
appeal concerning a retrial.89

80P Handler ‘The Court for Crown Cases Reserved, 1848–1908’ (2011) 29 LHR 259, at 270–271.
81Petition for reprieve of Reginald Woolmington, 20 February 1935 (NA: HO 144/19946/25). Subsequent reporting spoke

of the time Woolmington’s father and two brothers had all put in to gathering the signatures: ‘Home to-day – free man: joy at
Woolmington’s release’ Western Daily Press and Bristol Mirror (Bristol 6 April 1935) p 7.

82Petition for reprieve of Reginald Woolmington, 5 April 1935 (NA: HO 144/19946/28).
83Statement of Edgar Reginald Pursey, 19 March 1935 (NA: HO 144/19946/21).
84Letter from Edward Hale Tindal Atkinson (Director of Public Prosecutions) to Russell Scott (Under Secretary of State to

the Home Office), 20 March 1935 (NA: HO 144/19946/21).
85‘Murder appeal to Lords: dramatic bid to save young farm labourer’ Illustrated Police News (London 4 April 1935) p 4.
86Letter from FJ Evans to Home Secretary, 23 March 1935 (NA: HO 144/19946/26).
87‘Murder appeal in the Lords: conviction quashed’ The Times (London 6 April 1935) p 12.
88Memo from Robert A Swan (Legal Secretary, Law Officers’ Department) to Thomas Inskip (Attorney General), 21

March 1935 (NA: LO 2/9) 3 (emphasis added).
89Ibid, p 3. This was an allusion to R v Norton (1910) 2 KB 496.
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So if Inskip’s advisers were clear with him that Woolmington’s case could not succeed, and if Inskip
himself was unconcerned about the principled sanctity of the burden of proof, how exactly did the case
reach the Lords? Why was it that Inskip’s advisers framed their memo in terms of ‘justifying’ his deci-
sion that the appeal should go ahead? One factor was doubtless Woolmington’s lawyer, Casswell, who
insisted on meeting Inskip to discuss the case, despite the fact the appeal was over and he was therefore
no longer being instructed by solicitors.90 I have been unable to find any description of their conver-
sation, but perhaps Casswell was simply very persuasive. More likely, I would suggest, is the growing
public support for Woolmington at Bristol. Inskip was born and had grown up in the city. He had
between 1918 and 1929 been one of the city’s three MPs.91 His half-brother had been the city’s
Lord Mayor in 1931.92 It seems unlikely that the growing public pressure in the city, as evidenced
by the seven-thousand strong petition being gathered as he made his decision, did not form part of
his highly improbable decision to send the case to the Lords.

Setting out their cases in the Lords, Casswell (now working with TJ O’Connor after the Lord
Chancellor’s insistence that there should be a KC on each side)93 and Trapnell did not drastically
change their arguments from the ones offered at the Court of Criminal Appeal a little under a
month earlier. O’Connor’s central claim was both that the burden of proof never normally shifted
to the defendant, and that, contrary to what Avory J had decided at the Court of Criminal Appeal,
any misdirection on this point was sufficient to ensure that ‘the rest of his summing-up was vitiated’.94

The presumption of innocence was both a universalisable, and a fundamental principle. Trapnell,
meanwhile, contended that the law as set out by Foster and applied by Swift was correct,95 and
that even if it wasn’t then no jury could have failed to convict Woolmington on the evidence submit-
ted.96 No mention was made by either side about the expert evidence (although the Lords did take a
look at the gun).97 These arguments were heard across 4 and 5 April, and Viscount Sankey immedi-
ately announced that the appeal would succeed. His reasons would be provided some seven weeks
later.

Early in his judgment, Sankey asked whether the statement of the law in Foster’s treatise was cor-
rect. Not whether it was still valid, but simply ‘Is that statement correct law?’98 The first part of
Sankey’s answer to that question was to note that the Court of Criminal Appeal was not established
until 1907: while the judges had previously considered matters of criminal law, these earlier discus-
sions either engaged with issues that could be distinguished from the matters under consideration
here, or failed to secure for the law of evidence very much more than a ‘fluid condition’.99 There
were also important questions about the accuracy of the reporting in the various nominate reports,
drawn up before the advent of professional law reporting.100 The creation of a permanent criminal
appeal court lent decisions after 1907 if not more authority, at least more systematic rigour. This
way of setting up the question meant, of course, that the line of cases beginning in Stoddart in

90Casswell, above n 56, p 95.
91K Robbins ‘Inskip, Thomas Walker Hobart, first Viscount Caldecote (1876–1947), lawyer and politician’, Oxford

Dictionary of National Biography https://www.oxforddnb.com/view/10.1093/ref:odnb/9780198614128.001.0001/odnb-
9780198614128-e-34107 (last accessed 27 June 2022).

92‘List of Mayors and Lord Mayors of Bristol’ https://www.bristol.gov.uk/documents/20182/138093/Bristol+Mayors+from
+1216.pdf/1f34b6f6-efa2-452b-bea6-8d2f2bc301c0 (last accessed 27 June 2022).

93Memo from Robert A Swan (Legal Secretary, Law Officers’ Department) to Thomas Inskip (Attorney General), 29
March 1935 (NA: LO 2/9).

94‘Law Report, April 5: House of Lords’ The Times (London 6 April 1935) p 4.
95Woolmington v DPP [1935] AC 462, 468-69.
96‘Law Report, April 5: House of Lords’ The Times (London 6 April 1935) p 4.
97‘Murder conviction quashed: Somerset man’s successful appeal’ The Citizen (Gloucester 5 April 1935) p 1.
98Woolmington v DPP [1935] AC 462, at 475.
99Sankey did recognise that the Court of Crown Cases Reserved had been established a few decades earlier, but argued that

even then most pronouncements regarding the criminal law were to be found in trial judges’ directions to their juries, and in
textbooks. Neither source, of course, had the authority of an appellate court decision. Ibid, at 476–478 (quote at 478).

100Ibid, at 478–479.
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1909 had a weight that cases such as Greenacre, decided almost a century earlier, could not have, even
though the former concerned property offences and the latter concerned homicide. This was a shrewd
way of establishing that the principles found in the modern receiving cases, rather than the principles
found in the older murder authorities, had the greater practical significance.

Having explained that the earlier doctrine on murder was of dubious significance compared to the
recent property offences doctrine, Sankey next went on to consider the recent work of the Court of
Criminal Appeal, starting with Stoddart, which had directly, reliably, authoritatively engaged with
questions of the burden of proof. These authorities relating to property offences, having been carefully
set up as the only authorities that were really available, inevitably led to the conclusion that Swift J’s
direction at the Bristol assizes had been wrong.

But did this matter? The principle against reverse burdens was universalisable, because there were
no valid authorities other than those supporting the principle, but would a breach of this principle
necessarily produce a miscarriage of justice? Here, Sankey was less clear, concluding ‘[w]e cannot
say that if the jury had been properly directed they would have inevitably come to the same conclu-
sion’.101 This was less the establishment of a clear test, and more a rebuttal to Avory J’s use of the word
‘inevitable’ at the Court of Criminal Appeal. But as we shall see in the next section, Woolmington was
immediately understood as offering very little by way of procedural protection to a defendant.

One striking aspect of the judgment in the House of Lords is that there was in fact only one judg-
ment, with the Lord Chancellor’s reasoning simply being assented to by his colleagues. As we shall see
later on, this unity was at best only apparent, with one judge taking to the pages of the Sunday Times
only a few days later to offer a very different account of what had happened in the case. But despite the
low numbers of criminal cases that it heard during this period, it can be seen that it was not unusual
for the Lords to give a unitary judgment in this sort of case. In its seven reported decisions concerning
English criminal law during the interwar period, the Lords delivered a unitary judgment on four occa-
sions,102 with this judgment being delivered by the Lord Chancellor – as it was here – three times.
Separate judgments were only given in order to demonstrate disagreement, with all or all but one
Law Lord on the panel giving a full judgment either when there was a dissentient,103 or where a par-
ticularly complex question of statutory interpretation was involved.104 Generally speaking, the House
of Lords wanted in its criminal decisions to project certainty, with any minor disagreements ordinarily
being smoothed out in public.

But what did that certainty entail? The principle against reverse burdens was now understood as a
universal principle, rather than one derived from an application of an academic critique of the
American law of evidence to English property offences. But there were exceptions built into the judg-
ment. Sankey allowed that a defendant would still have to prove a defence of insanity, in part because
the extrajudicial, Victorian M’Naghten principles had been confirmed and explained in a 1910 deci-
sion of the Court of Criminal Appeal.105 And he briefly endorsed the concession made by
Woolmington’s lawyers that reverse burdens would be possible when created by statute.106 But
what he did not do is conclude that any judicial failure to properly direct on the burden on proof
would necessarily lead to a miscarriage of justice. No attempt could be made to whittle down the
broad principle, but what the judgment ultimately did was limited to confirming the principle’s
breadth. Finally, the case was not creating new law, because it was impossible to find an authoritative
statement on reverse burdens in homicide cases prior to 1907. If you thought Woolmington changed
the law, you must have been confused about what the word ‘law’ meant.

101Ibid, at 482–483.
102DPP v Beard [1920] AC 479; Maxwell v DPP [1935] AC 309; Woolmington v DPP [1935] AC 462; Andrews v DPP

[1937] AC 576.
103Crane v DPP [1921] 2 AC 299; Secretary of State for Home Affairs v O’Brien [1923] AC 603.
104Milne v Commissioner of Police for the City of London [1940] AC 1.
105Woolmington v DPP [1935] AC 462, at 475, discussing R v M’Naghten (1843) 8 ER 718, and R v Smith (1910) 6 Cr App

R 19.
106Woolmington v DPP [1935] AC 462, at 481.
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5. Contemporary understandings of the Woolmington decision

Woolmington continued to be presented as an attractive, sympathetic figure.107 On being freed, he
stayed in London to have a photoshoot for the Daily Express.108 The following afternoon, he travelled
back to his hometown, where he was greeted by crowds.109 The press also sought statements from Violet
Woolmington’s family. Her brother-in-law told reporters his family was ‘trying to forget’.110 Violet
Woolmington’s mother obviously continued to feel grief at the death of her daughter,111 and now also at
the loss of her grandson, who she had been caring for for five months, and who had now been taken to
a home in London until Reginald Woolmington felt able to care for him.112 But the family of Violet
Woolmington were minor figures in the reporting, with much more interest placed on the freed man’s
hope to be in films,113 or the offer he received to appear in live performances.114 In 1936, the Daily
Mirror reported that Woolmington’s parents had persuaded him to turn down offers to become a profes-
sional boxer, and that he had instead taken a job as an electrician inLincoln, underan assumedname.Violet
Woolmington’s mother was not reunited with her grandson, who had by this stage been adopted.115

Woolmington was always going to be jurisprudentially significant. But the judges in the Lords also
worked hard to try to ensure its wider cultural significance. Beyond the famous poetry of Viscount
Sankey’s ‘golden thread’, the Chief Justice, Lord Hewart, also took steps to try to ensure the
Woolmington decision might enter into the public consciousness. Hewart had observed the usual prac-
tice of the Lords ordinarily giving a single judgment in criminal cases. But Hewart, the former
Guardian journalist,116 decided the best way to draw out the decision’s nuances – and to underline
its significance – was to follow the House of Lords’ judgment on the Thursday with an article in
the Sunday Times three days later. In his article, Hewart emphasised that the Woolmington decision
had in fact changed the law, and sought to explain why it was that he and his colleagues had decided
to do so. His decision to publish this article was not universally popular, however. Inskip, for example,
privately described the article as ‘Very inconvenient’,117 and two years later Hewart still complained of
the critics who had ‘made a grievance that a certain judge should have explained out of court a certain
point of criminal law’.118

Hewart’s article, which has really to be set within a context of the judge’s delight in grandstand-
ing,119 explained that at the start of the week there had been three exceptions to the general principle
that the prosecution proves guilt: defences to murder, insanity, and ‘a little group of statutory excep-
tions’. This had now changed, as one of the three exceptions had ‘perished’.120 For the most part,

107It is perhaps surprising, in this broader context, that I have been unable to find the kind of positive, supportive discus-
sion of the pro-Woolmington petition that the Hull Daily Mail printed in 1917, in the context of another jealous husband
who had killed his wife: see Crites, above n 14, p 124.

108‘Law gives a man back his life: peers quash death sentence – for the first time in history’ Daily Express (London 6 April
1935) p 1.

109‘Released man’s homecoming: mother’s embrace’ Sunday Post (Glasgow 7 April 1935) p 1.
110‘Home to-day – free man: joy at Woolmington’s release’Western Daily Press and Bristol Mirror (Bristol 6 April 1935) p 7.
111‘Man Lords freed goes home: dramatic reunion with mother’ Sunday Pictorial (London 7 April 1935) p 4.
112‘Legal history made: Somerset farm hand wins appeal’ Western Morning News and Devon and Exeter Daily Gazette

(Plymouth 6 April 1935) p 6; ‘Freed man prays with his parents: attends service at Oborne church’ Western Morning
News and Daily Gazette (Plymouth 8 April 1935) p 4.

113‘Freed man prays in church: before his struggle to find a job’ Daily Mirror (8 April 1935) p 3.
114‘Exhibition “not wanted”’ The Citizen (Gloucester 9 April 1935) p 9. This was presumably the music hall performance

that Farmer mentions Woolmington participating in: Farmer, above n 10, p 61. But the news report states the relevant local
authority was opposed to the performance, and so it is unclear if it ever took place.

115‘Man cleared of murder leaves home of memories’ Daily Mirror (London 30 October 1936) p 5; Casswell, above n 56, p 97.
116R Stevens ‘Hewart, Gordon, first Viscount (1870–1943), judge’, Oxford Dictionary of National Biography https://www.

oxforddnb.com/view/10.1093/ref:odnb/9780198614128.001.0001/odnb-9780198614128-e-33846 (last accessed 27 June 2022).
117Note written by Thomas Inskip (Attorney General), 30 May 1935 (NA: LO 2/9).
118‘Guilt needs proof’ in Lord Hewart Not Without Prejudicae (Hutchinson & Co, 1937) p 203.
119See, for example, Lieut-Colonel Sir Arnold Wilson MP, HL Deb 24 Jun 1935, vol 303, col 798; or ‘guilt needs proof’,

ibid.
120Hewart, above n 8.
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Hewart’s article was simply an accessible account of the issues explored in Woolmington. But he con-
cluded by underlining that the decision did constitute a clear change in the law, quoting with approval
the following words of the jurist Henry Maine:

When a group of facts comes before an English Court for adjudication, the whole course of the
discussion between the judge and the advocates assumes that no question is, or can be, raised
which will call for the application of any principles but old ones… Yet the moment the judgment
has been rendered and reported, we slide unconsciously or unavowably into a new language and a
new train of thought. We now admit that the new decision has modified the law.121

This, no doubt, is the passage that Inskip had found ‘inconvenient’.
TheWoolmington decision had an immediate impact as the expression of an abstract idea. The legal

press praised the decision for favouring underlying principles over longstanding doctrine.122 American
and English commentators noted that the case showed how quickly established doctrine can be
undone.123 In Australia, Sankey’s judgment had ‘greater eloquence than historical accuracy’,124 but
set out a humane principle which should be further developed so as to include the law on insanity.125

Comparative lawyers, meanwhile, expressed their hope that the Woolmington principle might be
extended into colonial legal codes which still contained the old formula.126 Judges also occasionally
saw Woolmington as the start of a discussion about high-level principles. One lawyer drew on the
case both judicially and extra-judicially as part of his more general thinking about the relationship
between burdens and standards of proof.127 Similarly, in Carr-Briant, where the Court of Criminal
Appeal faced conflicting authorities on the burden an accused must bear when faced with a statutory
reverse burden, it was held that the logic of the Woolmington principle required the defendant to have
something less than a criminal burden.128 Woolmington was immediately understood as expressing
important points of principle.

But how was the case received within the courts in its more immediate doctrinal setting, in the first
few years after 1935? Tracing things through for the first decade, until the end of 1945, I have found
two occasions whereWoolmington was used as a simple homicide decision, rather than a source of any
great principle.129 In five cases, counsel are reported as drawing on Woolmington, but then the judg-
ment of the court declines to engage with it directly.130 We have already seen that there were sugges-
tions in some places that the Woolmington decision should have gone further, also placing the legal
burden on the prosecution in the context of the insanity defence, for example. Smith points out
that even after Woolmington defendants were still expected to prove the common law defences of self-
defence and of duress.131 Beyond this, there was also the question of how significant the case actually
was, when it only referred to reverse burdens created at common law. By 1946, the Law Journal noted

121HS Maine Ancient Law: Its Connection with the Early History of Society, and its Relation to Modern Ideas (John Murray,
1861) p 31.

122‘The burden of proof in murder trials’ (1935) 24 Solicitors’ Journal 428.
123H Ford ‘Burden of proof’ (1934) 1 Alberta Law Quarterly 219, at 220; JWC Turner ‘The mental element in crimes at

common law’ (1936) 6 Cambridge Law Journal 31, at 65.
124JV Barry ‘The defence of insanity and the burden of proof’ (1939) 2 Res Judicatae 42, at 42.
125On the historical significance of theWoolmington decision in the context of the insanity defence, see Loughnan, above n

11, pp 163–165.
126‘R v Woolmington’ (1935) 17 Journal of Comparative Legislation and International Law 281. But see A Loughnan Self,

Others and the State: Relations of Criminal Responsibility (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2020) p 110.
127Emmanuel v Emmanuel [1945] P 115; AT Denning ‘Presumptions and burdens’ (1945) 61 LQR 379, at 382.
128R v Carr-Briant [1943] KB 607. This does not undermine, but does add a little extra texture, to Farmer’s observation

that the Woolmington decision did not directly have anything to say about the standard of proof: Farmer, above n 10, p 63.
129R v Gauthier (1944) 29 Cr App R 113; R v Jarmain [1946] KB 74.
130R v Morrison (1940) 27 Cr App R 1; In re Pollock [1941] Ch 219; Buckman v Button [1943] All ER 82; Kennedy v HM

Advocate [1944] JC 171; Kwaku Mensah v The King [1946] AC 83.
131JC Smith ‘The presumption of innocence’ (1987) 38 NILQ 223, at 225–226.
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that Woolmington was not a case with very much to say about the growing number of reverse burdens
created by statute.132 And I have only found two cases to the end of 1945 where a direction was found
to have breached the Woolmington principle in ways that actually mattered to the outcome of an
appeal.133

The one way in which Woolmington was engaged with doctrinally regarded the question of how s 4
of the 1907 Act should be interpreted. When Sankey had talked of another jury ‘inevitably’ reaching
the same conclusion even if properly directed, had he meant that almost all breaches of the
Woolmington principle would result in a quashed conviction? As early as 1936, Lord Hewart held
that the absence of a Woolmington direction was unimportant where the jury would have convicted
anyway. Woolmington was ‘a case to which far too much importance had been attached’.134 Also in
1936, the Privy Council twice decided that breaches of the Woolmington principle did not require a
conviction to be quashed.135 Five years later, in Mancini, the House of Lords explained that a
Woolmington direction would not be required in every case.136 In 1944, the Court of Criminal
Appeal (subsequently confirmed by the Lords)137 added that s 4 had since 1909 meant that a convic-
tion would only be overturned if a jury could have ‘reasonably’ voted to acquit.138 This was not chan-
ged by Woolmington.139 The Woolmington principle was therefore not fundamental: a judge who
failed to direct his jury accordingly would probably not thereby create a miscarriage of justice. This
was a change from how the principle had been understood in its earlier, more narrow doctrinal setting
as part of the law of receiving stolen goods.

Conclusions

Woolmington, then, was immediately deemed significant, but in limited ways. The popular pressure
which had secured Woolmington his hearing at the Lords continued for a time. But when he failed
to become a star, interest waned. The case had a more lasting significance as an exemplar of principles
contained within the criminal law, even if commentators were reluctant to acquiesce to Sankey’s insist-
ence that nothing the Lords had done was new. The case, understood at the level of principle, was
taken up in developing arguments about what the law stood for, and where it should go next. This
is the kind of significance that theWoolmington decision arguably still has for us today. As a precedent
that could actually be relied upon by those seeking to appeal against their convictions, however, the
decision was less longlasting. Its breadth did not extend to statutorily created reverse burdens, nor
to the common law defence of insanity. And it was not fundamental in the sense of offering a min-
imum procedural guarantee: it is very difficult to find the courts quashing convictions on
Woolmington grounds in cases decided in the first decade after the decision, even where it was con-
ceded that the jury was actually misdirected.

Woolmington was immediately a case with deep symbolic importance, laying down a universal
principle within English criminal law. But at the same time it was doctrinally narrow, going no further
than extending a rule that had developed primarily in a context of property offences to a new context
of defences to murder. It was, in this sense, blandly incremental. It set out a principle that, for all its
universalisable breadth, never offered anything fundamental, in the sense of a minimum set of stan-
dards that all correct judicial directions must abide by. It was a decision that was never intended to,
and never did stop the growth of statutorily created reverse burdens. It was a decision that could not

132‘Burden of proof and statutory offences’ (1946) 146 Law Journal 693.
133Mahadeo v R [1936] 28 Solicitors’ Journal 551; R v Prince (1943) 28 Cr App R 60.
134R v Jackson [1936] 49 Solicitors’ Journal 977, at 977.
135Attygale v The King [1936] AC 445; Renouf v Attorney General for Jersey [1936] AC 445. In both cases, counsel had

relied on Woolmington, but the court preferred to rely on the earlier decision of the Privy Council in Lawrence.
136Mancini v DPP [1942] AC1. See also R v Leckey [1944] KB 80. Viscount Sankey agreed to this decision.
137Stirland v DPP [1944] AC 315.
138R v Cohen and Bateman (1909) 2 Cr App R 197, at 207–208.
139R v Haddy [1944] KB 442, at 446.
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have been predicted in advance, abandoning as it did centuries of settled doctrine. It was also a
decision that probably never would have reached the Lords, if not for the arbitrary, contingent fact
that an Attorney General who was at best ambivalent about the importance of what would become
the Woolmington principle was nonetheless sensitive to popular and political pressures coming
from his hometown, a hometown in which Woolmington had happened to have been tried.

Woolmington, ultimately, is a decision that matters less for its practical consequences than for the
ideas it represents. But by tracing through what those ideas actually meant at the time they were set
out, it is clear that they were both ambitious, universalising points of principle, while at the same time
being carefully constructed as something less than fundamental.Woolmington was, depending on your
mood, either a way of producing quite mundane and unimportant theoretical consistency, or a way of
setting out an ambition for where the criminal law might go next. But what it was not was an
expression of a fundamental procedural right.
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